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PKF T. R. Upadhya & Co. PKF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The Shareholders of Laxmi Bank Limited

Report on the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consoclidated and separate financial statements of Laxmi Bank Limited (the "Bank”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), which comprise the statements of financial position as at
32 Ashad 2075 (16 July 2018), the statements of profit or loss, the statements of other comprehensive income, the
statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’'s Responsibility for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with Nepal Financial Reporting Standards (NFRSs), and for such internal centrol as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Nepal Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
consolidated and separate financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated and separate financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Group’s
and the Bank's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's and the Bank'’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management of the Group and
the Bank, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated and separate financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditor in terms of their
report referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consalidated and separate financial position of the Group and the Bank as at 32 Ashad 2075 (16 July 2018), and its
consolidated and separate financial performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Nepal Financial Reporting Standards (NFRSs).

Report on the Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We have obtained information and explanations asked for, which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were
necessary for the purpose of our audit. In our opinion, the consolidated and separate statements of financial position,
profit or loss, other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows, prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act, 2063 and format prescribed by Nepal Rastra Bank are in agreement with the books
of account maintained by the Group and the Bank; and proper books of account as required by law have been
maintained by the Group and the Bank including relevant records relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated
and separate financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and records
of the Bank and the Group.

In our opinion, so far as appeared from our examination of the books, the Bank has maintained adequate capital funds
and adequate provisions for possible impairment of assets in accordance with the directives of Nepal Rastra Bank.

{a: / \ \
124, Lal Colony Marg, Lal Durbar, Kathmandu, Nepal *\’%g/}
Tel:+ 977 01 4410927, +977 01 4420026, Fax: +977 014413307 pkf.trunco.com.np )

PKF T. R. Upadhya & Go. is a member of the PKF international Limited natwork of legally indepandant firms and does not accept any responsibility or liability for
the actions or inactions of any other individual member or firms.



To the best of our information and according to explanations given to us and so far appeared from our examination of
the books of account of the Bank and the subsidiaries of the Bank necessary for the purpose of our audit, we have not
come across cases where Board of Directors or any employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries have acted contrary to
the provisions of law relating to the accounts, or committed any misappropriation or caused loss or damage to the
Group and violated any directives of Nepal Rastra Bank or acted in a manner to jeopardize the interest and security of
the Bank, its depositors and investors.

TR W

> N :

Shashi Satyal y;'\ v
Partner * et ’,{_',_J-
\'-\e"’fred [

T R Upadhya & Co.
Chartered Accountants

Kathmandu
9 January 2019
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Reporting Entity

Laxmi Bank Limited ("the Bank") is a limited liability company domiciled in Nepal, incorporated in April
2002 as the 16th commercial bank in Nepal.The address of its registered office is Hattisar, Nepal. The bank
is a Class “A” financial institution licensed by Nepal Rastra Bank.

The Bank has a primary listing on the Nepal Stock Exchange Limited as “LBL”.

Subsidiaries

The Bank has two subsidiaries namely Laxmi Capital Market Limited and Laxmi Laghubitta Bittiya Sanstha
Limited.

a. Laxmi Capital Market Limited (LCML) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank and was incorporated
on 21 May 2009as a public limited company as per the Companies Act 2063 and licensed by Securities
Board of Nepal under the Securities Businessperson (Merchant Banker) Regulations, 2008 to provide
merchant banking and investment banking services.

b. Laxmi Laghubitta Bittiya Sanstha Limited (LLBS) is a microfinance subsidiary of the Bank and was
incorporated on 30 November 2010 as a public limited company under Companies Act, 2063 and
licensed by Nepal Rastra Bank as “D” class financial institution having registered office at Kathmandu,
Nepal. The principle activities involved extending banking products and services to the deprived
sectors/communities. Laxmi Bank holds 70% shares of the company while the remaining 30% is held by
public. The shares of LLBS are listed on the Nepal Stock Exchange Limited as “LLBS”.

The financial year of both of the subsidiaries is same as that of the Bank ending on 16 July 2018 (32 Ashad
2075).

“The group” represents the Bank and its subsidiaries.
Basis of Preparation

The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared on accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
Nepal Financial Reporting Standards (NFRS) as published by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) Nepal
and pronounced by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nepal (ICAN) and as per the format issued by
Nepal Rastra Bank in Directive No. 4 of NRB Directives, 2075.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Profit or Loss and
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income shown differently, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Statement of Cash Flows and the Notes to the Accounts.

Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Board of Directors in accordance with
Nepal Financial Reporting Standards (NFRS) and as published by the Accounting Standards Board
(ASB),Nepal and pronounced by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nepal (ICAN) and in the format
issued by Nepal Rastra Bank in Directive No. 4 of NRB Directives, 2075.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented except otherwise stated.

Reporting period and approval of financial statements

The Bank has, for the preparation of financial statements, adopted the NFRS pronounced by ASB with effect
from fiscal year 2074/75. To comply the NFRS provisions following dates have been considered, in terms of
first-time adoption.
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Relevant Financial Statement Nepalese Calendar English Calendar
Opening NFRS SFP* date 1 Shrawan 2073 16 July 2016
Comparative SFP* Date 31 Ashad 2074 15 July 2017
Comparative reporting period 1 Shrawan 2073-31 Ashad 2074 16 July 2016 -15 July 2017
First NFRS SFP* Date 32 Ashad 2075 16 July 2018
First NFRS reporting period 1 Shrawan 2074- 32 Ashad 2075 16 July 2017-16 July 2018

*SFP- Statement of Financial Position

The Board of Directors may decide to amend the annual accounts as long as these are not adopted by the
general meeting of the shareholders. The general meeting of shareholders may decide not to adopt the annual
accounts but may not amend these.

2.3 Functional and Presentation Currency

The financial statements are presented in Nepalese Rupees (NPR) which is the Bank’s functional currency.
All financial information presented in NPR has been rounded to the nearest rupee except where indicated
otherwise.

2.4 Use of Estimates, Assumptions and Judgments

The Bank, under NFRS, is required to apply accounting policies to most appropriately suit its circumstances
and operating environment. Further, the Bank is required to make judgments in respect of items where the
choice of specific policy, accounting estimate or assumption to be followed could materially affect the
financial statements. This may later be determined that a different choice could have been more appropriate.

The accounting policies have been included in the relevant notes for each item of the financial statements
and the effect and nature of the changes, if any, have been disclosed.

The NFRS requires the Bank to make estimates and assumptions that will affect the assets, liabilities,
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and profit or loss as reported in the financial statements. The
Bank applies estimates in preparing and presenting the financial statements and such estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed periodically. The revision to accounting estimates are recognized in the
period in which the estimates are revised and are applied prospectively.

Disclosures of the accounting estimates have been included in the relevant sections of the notes wherever the
estimates have been applied along with the nature and effect of changes of accounting estimates, if any.

2.4.1 Going Concern

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, as the Board of the Bank is satisfied that the
Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. In making this assessment, the
Board of Directors have considered a wide range of information relating to present and future conditions,
including future projections of profitability, cash flows and capital resources.

2.5 Changes in Accounting Policies

The Bank is required to adopt and apply the accounting policies in conformity with Nepal Financial
Reporting Framework (NFRS). The accounting policies are applied consistently with changes, if any and are
disclosed with the financial impact to the extent possible. When policies are not guided by the reporting
framework, NFRS, other reporting standards and generally accounting principles are followed.
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Reporting Pronouncements

The Bank has, for the preparation of financial statements, adopted the NFRS pronounced by ASB as
effective on September 13, 2013. The NFRS conform, in all material respect, to International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

However, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Nepal (ICAN) vide its notice dated 20 September 2018
has resolved that Carve-outs in NFRS with Alternative Treatment and effective period shall be provided to
the Banks and Financial Institutions regulated by NRB on the specific recommendation of Accounting
Standard Board (ASB). Details of carve out provided are as follows.

NFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements

In para 19 of NFRS 10, a parent shall prepare consolidated financial statements using uniform accounting
policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances unless 1t is impracticable to do so.

The carve out is optional and has been provided for the FY 2017-18 to 2019-20.Accordingly, the bank has
opted the carve out.

NAS 17: Lease

In para 33, lease payments under an operating lease shall be recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term unless either:

(a) Another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit even if the
payments to the lessors are not on that basis; or

(b) The payments to the lessor are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to
compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases. If payments to the lessor vary because of
factors other than general inflation, then this condition 1s not met.

The carve out is optional and provided for FY 2017-18 only. Accordingly, the bank has opted the carve out.
The Bank operates its branches and ATMs in number of leased facilities under operating lease agreements.
The payments to the lessors are structured to increase in line with the general inflation rate to compensate for
the lessors’ expected inflationary cost increment.

NAS 34: Interim Financial Reporting

In para 2, if an entity’s interim financial report is described as complying with NFRSs, it must comply with
all of the requirements of this Standard. Paragraph 19 requires certain disclosures in that regard. However, an
entity shall not require to restate its corresponding previous interim period balance if it is impracticable to
restate.

The carve out is optional and has been provided for the FY 2017-18 and 2018-19. Accordingly, the bank has
opted the carve out.

NAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

a) Impairment

In para 58, an entity shall assess at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets measured at amortized cost is impaired. If any
such evidence exists, the entity shall apply paragraph 63 to determine the amount of any impairment loss
unless the entity is bank or financial institutions registered as per Bank and Financial Institutions Act,
2073. Such entities shall measure impairment loss on loan and advances as the higher of amount derived
as per norms prescribed by Nepal Rastra Bank for loan loss provision and amount determined as per
paragraph 63; and shall apply paragraph 63 to measure the impairment loss on financial assets other than
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loan and advances. The entity shall disclose the impairment loss as per this carve-out and the amount of
impairment loss determined as per paragraph 63.

The carve out is not optional and has been provided for the FY 2017-18 to 2019-20.

b) Impracticability to determine transaction cost of all previous years which is the part of effective
interest rate

In para 9, The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, an entity shall estimate cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, prepayment, call and similar options) but shall not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received, unless it 1s immaterial or impracticable to
determine reliably, between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate
(see NAS 18 Revenue), transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. There is a presumption
that the cash flows and the expected life of a group of similar financial instruments can be estimated
reliably. However, in those rare cases when it is not possible to estimate reliably the cash flows or the
expected life of a financial instrument (or group of financial instruments), the entity shall use the
contractual cash flows over the full contractual term of the financial instrument (or group of financial
instruments).

The carve out is optional and has been provided for the FY 2017-18 and 2018-19. Accordingly, the bank
has opted the carve out.

¢) Impracticability to determine interest income on amortized cost

In para AG 93, once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a
result of an impairment loss, interest income is thereafter recognized using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Inferest income shall be
calculated by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset unless the
financial asset is written off either partially or fully.

The carve out is optional and has been provided for the FY 2017-18 and 2018-19. Accordingly, the bank
has opted the carve out.

New Standards in issue but not yet effective

For the reporting of financial instruments, NAS 32 Financial Instruments, Presentation, NAS 39 Financial
Instruments Recognition and Measurements and NFRS 7 Financial Instruments — Disclosures have been
applied. NRFS 9 has been complied for the classification of Financial Instruments.

A number of new standards and amendments to the existing standards and interpretations have been issued
by IASB after the pronouncements of NFRS with varying effective dates. Those become applicable when
ASB Nepal incorporates them within NFRS.

New Standards and Interpretations Not adapted

The following amendments are not mandatory for 2018 and have not been early adopted by the group. The
Bank is still currently assessing the detailed impact of these amendments —

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’-Impairment

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ was issued by the IASB in July 2014 and effective internationally for the
financials beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Accounting Standard Board of Nepal endorsed NFRS 9
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Financial Instruments with some exceptions, mainly in the Impairment. Currently, Incurred Loss Model as
specified in NAS 39 is used. The requirement of [FRS 9 is Expected Credit Loss Model.

Expected Credit Loss Model (ECL) of Impairment

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model is a forward-looking model. The ECL estimates are unbiased,
probability-weighted, and include supportable information about past events, current conditions, and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

Under the general approach, IFRS 9 recognizes three stage approach to measure expected credit losses and
recognized interest income.

Stage 1: 12-month ECL — No significantly increased credit risk Financial instruments that have not had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition require, at initial recognition a provision for ECL
associated with the probability of default events occurring within the next 12 months (12-month ECL). For
those financial assets with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a Probability of Default (PD) is used
that corresponds to the remaining maturity. Interest will be calculated on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset before adjusting for ECL.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL — Significantly increased credit risk in the event of a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a provision is required for the lifetime ECL representing losses over the life of the
financial instrument (lifetime ECL).

Interest income will continue to be recognized on a gross basis.

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — Defaulted Financial instruments that move into Stage 3 once credit impaired and
purchases of credit impaired assets will require a lifetime provision. Interest income will be calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset less ECL

The management is still assessing the potential impact on its financial statements, if Expected Credit Loss
(ECL) model is introduced.

IFRS-15: Revenue from contract with customers:

The IASB issued a new standard for revenue recognition which overhauls the existing revenue recognition
standards. The standard requires the following five step model framework to be followed for revenue
recognition:

- Identification of the contracts with the customer

- Identification of the performance obligations in the contract

- Determination of the transaction price

- Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract (as identified in step ii)
- Recognition of revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The new standard would be effective for annual periods starting from 1 January 2018 and early application
is allowed. The management is assessing the potential impact on its financial statements resulting from
application of IFRS 15.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contract with customers has not yet been adopted by the Accounting Standard
Board of Nepal.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 is the new
accounting standard for leases and will replace IAS 17 ‘Leases’ and IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease’. The new standard removes the distinction between operating or finance
leases for lessee accounting, resulting in all leases being treated as finance leases. All leases will be
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recognised on the statement of financial position with the optional exceptions for short-term leases with a
lease term of less than 12 months and leases of low-value assets (for example mobile phones or laptops). A
lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset and
a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. The main reason for this change is that
this approach will result in a more comparable representation of a lessee’s assets and liabilities in relation to
other companies and, together with enhanced disclosures, will provide greater transparency of a lessee’s
financial leverage and capital employed. The standard permits a lessee to choose either a full retrospective or
a modified retrospective transition approach.

IFRS 16 Leases has not yet been adopted by the Accounting Standard Board of Nepal.

2.9 Discounting

Discounting has been applied where assets and liabilities are non-current, and the impact of the discounting
is material.

2.10 Limitation of NFRS Implementation

Wherever the information is not adequately available, and/or it is impracticable to develop the, such
exception to NFRS implementation has been noted and disclosed in respective sections.

3. Significant Accounting Policies

31 Basis of Measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for the following material items
in the statement of financial position:

e derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value.
e financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value
e investment property is measured at fair value.
o liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements are measured at fair value
e the liability for defined benefit obligations is recognized as the present value of the defined benefit
obligation less the net total of the plan assets, plus unrecognized actuarial gains, less unrecognized past
service cost and unrecognized actuarial losses.
3.2 Basis of Consolidation
a. Business Combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date i.e. when
control is transferred to the Bank. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential
voting rights that currently are exercisable.

The Bank measures goodwill at the acquisition date as;
e the fair value of the consideration transferred, plus
e the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire, plus

o if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the preexisting equity interest in the
acquire, less

e the net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed.

e  When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

e The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing
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relationships. Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.

e Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Bank
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

e Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured, and settlement is accounted for within
equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in
profit or loss.

Non-Controlling Interest (NCI)

For each business combination, the Bank elects to measure any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
either:

e at fair value; or
e at their proportionate share of the acquire identifiable net assets, which are generally at fair value.

Changes in the Bank’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners. Adjustments to non-controlling interests are based on a
proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. No adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are the entities controlled by the Bank. The Bank controls an entity if it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. The Financial Statements of subsidiaries are included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The Bank reassesses whether it has control if there are changes to one or more of the elements of control. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the financial statements are combined line by line by adding
the like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent with those of its
subsidiary. The carrying amount of the parent’s investment in subsidiary and the parent’s portion of equity of
subsidiary are eliminated in full. All intra group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between entities of the group(such as interest income and technical fee) are
eliminated in full while preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Loss of Control

Upon the loss of control, the Bank derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, carrying amount
of non-controlling interests and the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity related to the
subsidiary. Further parent’s share of components previously recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
(OCI) is reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings as appropriate. Any surplus or deficit arising on the
loss of control is recognized in the profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary,
then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as
an equity-accounted investee or in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for financial instruments
depending on the level of influence retained.

Special Purpose Entities

Special purpose entities (SPEs) are entities that are created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined
objective. An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the
Bank and the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Bank concludes that it controls the SPE.

The following circumstances may indicate a relationship in which, in substance, the Bank controls and
consequently consolidates an SPE:
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e The activities of the SPE are being conducted on behalf of the Bank according to it specific business
needs so that the Bank obtains benefits from the SPE’s operation.

e The Bank has the decision-making powers to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the
SPE or, by setting up an ‘autopilot’ mechanism, the Bank has delegated these decision-making powers.

e The Bank has rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to
risks incident to the activities of the SPE.

e The Bank retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order
to obtain benefits from its activities.

Transaction Elimination on Consolidation

All intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Cash and Cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, balances with B/FIs, money at call & short notice and
highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the acquisition dates that
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the Bank in the management
of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Recognition

The Bank initially recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position
when, and only when, it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Bank initially
recognize loans and advances, deposits and debt securities/ subordinated liabilities issued on the date that
they are originated which is the date that the Bank becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Investments in equity instruments, bonds, debenture, Government securities, NRB bond or
deposit auction, reverse repos, outright purchase are recognized on trade date at which the Bank commits to
purchase/ acquire the financial assets. Regular way purchase and sale of financial assets are recognized on
trade date at which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Classification

Financial Assets

The Bank classifies the financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized cost or fair value on the
basis of the Bank’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

The two classes of financial assets are as follows;

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

The Bank classifies a financial asset measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:
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e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial asset measured at fair value

Financial assets other than those measured at amortized cost are measured at fair value. Financial assets
measured at fair value are further classified into two categories as below:

¢ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets are classified as fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) if they are held for trading or
are designated at fair value through profit or loss. Upon initial recognition, transaction cost is directly
attributable to the acquisition are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Such assets are subsequently
measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized in Statement of Profit or Loss.

¢ Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Investment in an equity instrument that is not held for trading and at the initial recognition, the Bank
makes an irrevocable election that the subsequent changes in fair value of the instrument is to be
recognized in other comprehensive income are classified as financial assets at fair value though other
comprehensive income. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value and changes in fair value
are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Financial Liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as
follows;

¢ Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

Financial liabilities are classified as fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading or are
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Upon initial recognition, transaction costs are directly
attributable to the acquisition are recognized in Statement of Profit or Loss as incurred. Subsequent
changes in fair value is recognized at profit or loss

o Financial Liabilities measured at amortized cost

All financial liabilities other than measured at fair value though profit or loss are classified as
subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest rate method.

Measurement

Initial Measurement

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.
Transaction cost in relation to financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recognized in Statement of Profit or Loss.

Subsequent Measurement

A financial asset or financial liability is subsequently measured either at fair value or at amortized cost based

on the classification of the financial asset or liability. Financial asset or liability classified as measured at
amortized cost is subsequently measured at amortized cost using effective interest rate method.
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The amortized cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the
maturity amount, and minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility.

Financial assets classified at fair value are subsequently measured at fair value. The subsequent changes in
fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in Statement of Profit or Loss
whereas of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are recognized in other
comprehensive income.

3.4.1 Derecognition

Derecognition of Financial Assets

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Bank neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the
financial asset.

Any interest in such transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by
the Bank is recognized as a separate asset or liability. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset
transferred), and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new
liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive
income is recognized in profit or loss.

In transactions in which the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Bank continues to recognize the asset
to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the
value of the transferred asset.

Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or canceled or
expired. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is
recognized in Statement of Profit or Loss.

3.4.2 Determination of Fair Value

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction on the measurement date. The fair value of a
liability reflects its non-performance risk

The fair values are determined according to the following hierarchy:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuations are those with quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for

identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments valued using models where all
significant inputs are observable.
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Level 3 portfolios are those where at least one input, which could have a significant effect on the
instrument’s valuation, is not based on observable market data.

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market
for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. If a market for a
financial instrument is not active, the Bank establishes fair value using a valuation technique. Valuation
techniques include using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if
available), reference to the current fair value of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analyses.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price — i.e.
the fair value of the consideration given or received. However, in some cases, the fair value of a financial
instrument on initial recognition may be different to its transaction price. If such fair value is evidenced by
comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument (without modification)
or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets, then the
difference is recognized in profit or loss on initial recognition of the instrument. In other cases, the difference
is not recognized in profit or loss immediately but is recognized over the life of the instrument on an
appropriate basis or when the instrument is redeemed, transferred or sold, or the fair value becomes
observable.

All unquoted equity investments are recorded at cost, considering the non-trading of promoter shares up to
the date of balance sheet, the market price of such shares could not be ascertained with certainty. Hence,
these investments are recognized at cost net of impairment, if any.

Impairment

At each reporting date the Bank assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may have been
impaired. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is determined. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events occurring after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event),
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The Bank considers the following factors in assessing objective evidence of impairment:

e Whether the counterparty is in default of principal or interest payments.

e When a counterparty files for bankruptcy and this would avoid or delay discharge of its obligation.

o  Where the Bank initiates legal recourse of recovery in respect of a credit obligation of the counterpart.

e Where the Bank consents to a restructuring of the obligation, resulting in a diminished financial
obligation, demonstrated by a material forgiveness of debt or postponement of scheduled payments.

o  Where there is observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows of a group of financial assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with specific
individual financial assets.

The Bank considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment
securities at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant loans and advances and
held-to-maturity investment securities are assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically
impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified.

Loans and advances and held-to-maturity investment securities that are not individually significant are

collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together loans and advances and held-to-maturity
investment securities with similar risk characteristics. Impairment test is done on annual basis for trade
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receivables and other financial assets based on the internal and external indication observed.

In assessing collective impairment, the Bank uses statistical modeling of historical trends of the probability of
default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgment as to
whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less
than suggested by historical trends. Default rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are
regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure that they remain appropriate.

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortized cost

As per NAS 39

Financial assets carried at amortized cost (such as amounts due from Banks, loans and advances to customers
as well as held—to—maturity investments is impaired, and impairment losses are recognized, only if there is
objective evidence as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the deemed
recoverable value of loan.

Loans and advances to customers with significant value (Top 50 borrowers and borrowers classified as bad
as per Nepal Rastra Bank Directive) are assessed for individual impairment test. The recoverable value of
loan is estimated on the basis of realizable value of collateral and the conduct of the borrower/past
experience of the bank. Assets that are individually assessed and for which no impairment exists are grouped
with financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment. The
credit risk statistics for each group of the loan and advances are determined by management prudently being
based on the past experience. For the purpose of collective assessment of impairment bank has categorized
assets in to six broad products as follows:

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased
or reduced by adjusting the other reserves and funds (impairment reserve) in other comprehensive income
and statement of changes in equity. If a future write—off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
’Income Statement’.

As per Loan Loss Provision of Nepal Rastra Bank

Loan loss provisions in respect of non-performing loans and advances are based on management’s
assessment of the degree of impairment of the loans and advances, subject to the minimum provisioning
level prescribed in relevant NRB guidelines. Provision is made for possible losses on loans and advances
including bills purchased at 1% to 100% on the basis of classification of loans and advances, overdraft and
bills purchased in accordance with NRB directives.

Policies Adopted

As per the Carve out notice issued by ICAN, the Bank has measured impairment loss on loan and advances
as the higher of amount derived as per norms prescribed by Nepal Rastra Bank for loan loss provision and
amount determined as per paragraph 63 of NAS 39.

Impairment of investment in equity instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income

Where objective evidence of impairment exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss
(measured as the difference between the amortized cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that financial asset previously recognized in the statement of profit or loss) is reclassified from equity and
recognized in the profit or loss. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security
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below its cost is considered, among other factors in assessing objective evidence of impairment for equity
securities.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, the
impairment loss is reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in the profit
or loss on equity instruments are not reversed through the profit or loss.

Trading Assets

Trading assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities that the Bank acquires or incurs principally for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term or holds as part of a portfolio that is managed together for
short-term profit or position taking.

Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at fair value in
the statement of financial position, with transaction costs recognized in profit or loss. All changes in fair
value are recognized as part of net trading income in profit or loss as regarded as fair value through profit &
loss account.

Derivatives Assets and Derivative Liabilities

Derivatives held for risk management purposes include all derivative assets and liabilities that are not classified
as trading assets or liabilities. Derivatives held for risk management purposes are measured at fair value in the
statement of financial position.

Considering the requirement of NAS 39 for qualification of hedge accounting and cost benefits along with
materiality, Bank has not adopted hedge accounting for certain derivatives held for risk management.

Property and Equipment

Recognition and Measurement

The cost of an item of property and equipment shall be recognized as an asset, initially recognized at cost, if,
and only if:

e it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

e the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the following:

e the cost of materials and direct labor;
e any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;

e when the Bank has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and

e (Capitalized borrowing costs.
The Bank adopts cost model for entire class of property and equipment. Neither class of the property and
equipment is measured at revaluation model nor is their fair value measured at the reporting date. The items of

property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.
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Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that
equipment.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized if it is probable that the future economic benefits from the expenditure
will flow to the Bank. Ongoing repairs and maintenance to keep the assets in working condition are expensed
as incurred. Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment (calculated as the difference
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized within other income
in profit or loss.

Assets with a value of less than NPR 10,000 are charged off to revenue irrespective of their useful life in the
year of purchase.

Capital Work in Progress
Fixed assets under construction and cost of assets not ready for use are shown as capital work in progress.
Depreciation

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight- line method to allocate their cost to their residual
values over their estimated useful life as per management judgment as follows:

Nature of Assets Useful Life (years)
Furniture 5
Equipment 5
Vehicles* 5
Computers 5
Building 40

Lower of 5 years or lease

Leasehold .
period

* Residual Value of Vehicles is expected to remain at 30% of Cost at the end of estimated useful life.

Depreciation on new assets shall commence from the month subsequent to the month in which the assets is
acquired or capitalized. Where assets are disposed off, depreciation shall be calculated upto the month
preceding the month of such disposal.

Derecognition

The carrying amount of Property and Equipment shall be derecognized on disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from derecognition of an
item of property and equipment shall be included in profit or loss when the item is derecognized (unless on a
sale & lease back).The gain shall not be classified as revenue.

Depreciation method, useful lives and residual value are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted, if any.
Intangible Assets/ Goodwill

Goodwill

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired in Business
Combination is recognized as goodwill. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently, if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

Acquired Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are initially measured at fair value, which reflects market expectations of the probability
that the future economic benefits embodied in the asset will flow to the Bank and are amortized on the basis
of their expected useful lives.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. Costs associated with the development of software are capitalized where it is
probable that it will generate future economic benefits in excess of its cost. Computer software costs are
amortized on the basis of expected useful life. Costs associated with maintaining software are recognized as
an expense as incurred.

At each reporting date, these assets are assessed for indicators of impairment. In the event that an asset’s
carrying amount is determined to be greater than its recoverable amount, the asset is written down
immediately.

Software is amortized on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over its estimated useful life, from the date that
it is available for use. The estimated useful life of software for the current and comparative periods is five

years. Software assets with costs less than Rs. 5,000 are charged off on purchases as revenue expenditure.

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Investment Property/Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

Investment Property

Investment properties include land or land and buildings other than those classified as property and
equipment and non-current assets held for sale. Generally, it includes land, land and building acquired by

the Bank as non-banking assets but not sold as on the reporting date.

The Bank holds investment property that has been acquired through enforcement of security over the loans
and advances.

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets (such as property) and disposal groups (including both the assets and liabilities of the
disposal groups) are classified as held for sale and measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less cost to sell when: (i) their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through sale; (ii) they are
available-for-sale in their present condition; and (iii) their sale is highly probable.

Immediately before the initial classification as held for sale, the carrying amounts of the assets (or assets and
liabilities in a disposal group) are measured in accordance with the applicable accounting policies described
above.

Income Tax

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive

income.
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a. Current Tax

Current tax is the expected tax payable or recoverable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years. Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.

b. Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rate applicable to the Bank as at the reporting date which is expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilized.

3.11 Deposits, debts securities issued and subordinated liabilities

a. Deposits

The Bank accepts deposits from its customers under account, current, term deposits and margin accounts
which allows money to be deposited and withdrawn by the account holder. These transactions are recorded
on the bank's books, and the resulting balance is recorded as a liability for the Bank and represents the
amount owed by the Bank to the customer.

b. Debt Securities Issued

It includes debentures, bonds or other debt securities issued by the Bank. Deposits, debt securities issued,
and subordinated liabilities are initially measured at fair value minus incremental direct transaction costs,
and subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method, except where the
Group designates liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. However, debentures issued by the bank are
subordinate to the deposits from customer.

c. Subordinated Liabilities

Subordinated liabilities are those liabilities which at the event of winding up are subordinate to the claims of
depositors, debt securities issued and other creditors. The bank does not have any of such subordinated
liabilities.

3.12 Provisions

The Bank recognizes a provision if, as a result of past event, the Bank has a present constructive or legal
obligation that can be reliability measured and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be
required to settle the obligation.

A disclosure for contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that
may but probably will not require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation or a present
obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is
made.

A provision for onerous contract is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Bank from a
contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligation under the contract.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no
longer probable that an outflow of resources would be required to settle the obligation, the provision is
reversed. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements. However, contingent assets are
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assessed continually and if it is virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise, the asset and
related income are recognized in the period in which the change occurs.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits during the period arising from the course of the ordinary
activities of an entity when those inflows result in increases in equity, other than increases relating to
contributions from equity participants. Revenue is recognized to the extent it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is not recognized during
the period in which its recoverability of income is not probable. The Bank’s revenue comprises of interest
income, fees and commission, foreign exchange income, cards income, remittance income, bancassurance
commission, etc. and the bases of incomes recognition are as follows:

Interest Income

Interest income on available-for-sale assets and financial assets held at amortized cost shall be recognized
using the bank’s normal interest rate which is very close to effective interest rate using effective interest rate
method.

For income from loans and advances to customers, initial charges are not amortized over the life of the loan
and advances as the income so recognized closely approximates the income that would have been derived
under effective interest rate method. The difference is not considered material. The Bank considers that the
cost of exact calculation of effective interest rate method exceeds the benefit that would be derived from
such compliance.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) but does not
consider future credit losses. As per the Carve-out Notice issued by ICAN, the calculation includes all fees
paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts unless it is immaterial or impracticable to determine
reliably, between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and all other premiums or discounts.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss are included in the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Contractual
interest income and expense on financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss is recognized
within net interest income.

Fees & Commission

Fees and commissions are recognized on an accrual basis when the service has been provided or significant
act performed whenever the benefit exceeds cost in determining such value. Whenever, the cost of
recognizing fees and commissions on an accrual basis exceeds the benefit in determining such value, the
fees and commissions are charged off during the year.

All the commission incomes are accounted for on accrual basis except for the commission income less than
NPR 100,000 or having tenure of less than 1 year which is recognized on cash basis.

Dividend Income

Dividend incomes are recognized when right to receive such dividend is established. Usually this is the ex-
dividend date for equity securities. Dividends are presented in net trading income, net income from other
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financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss or other revenue based on the underlying
classification of the equity investment.

Net Trading Income

Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities, and includes all
realized and unrealized fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences.

Net Income from other financial instrument at fair value through Profit or Loss

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss relates to non-trading
derivatives held for risk management purposes that do not form part of qualifying hedge relationships and
financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. It includes all realized and
unrealized fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences.

Interest expense

Interest expense on all financial liabilities including deposits are recognized in profit or loss using effective
interest rate method. Interest expense on all trading liabilities are considered to be incidental to the Bank’s
trading operations and are presented together with all other changes in fair value of trading assets and
liabilities in net trading income.

Employees Benefits

Short Term Employee Benefits

Short term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is also recognized for the amount expected to be paid under bonus
required by the Bonus Act, 2030 to pay the amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably under short term employee benefits.

Short-term employee benefits include all the following items (if payable within 12 months after the end of
the reporting period):

e wages, salaries and social security contributions,
e paid annual leave and paid sick leave,
e profit-sharing and bonuses and

e non-monetary benefits

Post-Employment Benefits

Post-employment benefit plan includes the followings;

Defined Contribution Plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as personnel expenses in profit or loss in the
periods during which related services are rendered.

Contributions to a defined contribution plan that are due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting

period in which the employees render the service are discounted to their present value.

All employees of the Bank are entitled to receive benefits under the provident fund, a defined contribution
plan, in which both the employee and the Bank contribute monthly at a pre-determined rate of 10% of the
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basic salary. The Bank does not assume any future liability for provident fund benefits other than its annual
contribution.

Defined Benefit plan

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Bank’s
net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior
periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognized past service costs and
the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.

The Bank recognizes all actuarial gains and losses net of deferred tax arising from defined benefit plans
immediately in other comprehensive income and all expenses related to defined benefit plans in employee
benefit expense in profit or loss.

The Bank recognizes gains and losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan when the
curtailment or settlement occurs. The gain or loss on curtailment or settlement comprises any resulting
change in the fair value of plan assets, any change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation, any
related actuarial gains and losses and any past service cost that had not previously been recognized.

Termination Benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Bank is demonstrably committed, without
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the
normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognized as an expense if the Bank has
made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of
acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date,
then they are discounted to their present value.

Leases

Lease payments under an operating lease shall be recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term unless either:

(a) Another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit even if the
payments to the lessors are not on that basis; or

(b) The payments to the lessor are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to
compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases. If payments to the lessor vary because of

factors other than general inflation, then this condition is not met.

Majority of lease agreements entered by the Banks are with the clause of normal increment which the
management assumes are in line with the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases.

Foreign Currency Translation
The financial statements are presented in Nepalese Rupees (NPR).

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at
the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rate of exchange at the statement of financial position date.
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Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates if held at historical cost, or
year-end exchange rates if held at fair value, and the resulting foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognized in either the statement of profit or loss or shareholders’ equity depending on the treatment of the
gain or loss on the asset or liability.

3.18 Financial guarantee and loan commitment

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Loan commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms
and conditions.

Loan commitment is the commitment where the Bank has confirmed its intention to provide funds to a
customer or on behalf of a customer in the form of loans, overdrafts, future guarantees, whether cancellable
or not, or letters of credit and the Bank has not made payments at the reporting date, those instruments are
included in these financial statements as commitments.

3.19 Share Capital and Reserves

The Bank classifies capital instruments as financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance with the
substance of the contractual terms of the instruments. Equity is defined as residual interest in total assets of
the Bank after deducting all its liabilities. Common shares are classified as equity of the Bank and
distributions thereon are presented in statement of changes in equity.

Dividends on ordinary shares and preference shares classified as equity are recognized in equity in the period
in which they are declared.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of an equity instrument are deducted from the initial
measurement of the equity instruments considering the tax benefits achieved thereon.

The reserves include retained earnings and other statutory reserves such as general reserve, debenture
redemption reserve, foreign exchange equalization reserve, regulatory reserve, investment adjustment
reserve, CSR reserve etc.

3.20 Earnings per share including diluted earning per share

The Bank presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. The basic EPS is
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Disclosures and Additional Information

Risk Management

Laxmi Bank’s objective to risk management goes beyond mitigation and control. We believe that our risk
management approach is a Strategic Differentiator and a key driver for our sustained and quality growth.

Our approach to risk managements is built around:

- formal governance processes that is constantly reviewed and updated

- top level commitment & development of risk framework through close alignment of risk
capabilities to business objectives

- ensuring that responsibility for risk resides at all levels — from the Board down through all
individual employees

- continuous research and development of new and improved risk management processes and tools
supported by effective Management Information Systems

- all businesses are accountable for managing risk in their own area, assisted, where appropriate, by
independent risk specialists

- by embedding this approach to measure and understand key risks to ensure the viability of all
processes and transactions

In the past years we have continued to make significant progress in enhancing our risk management
capabilities including identifying, measuring and monitoring of risk activities that we undertake in our
normal course of business.

Risk Management Framework and Organization

The Board sets out the risk appetite and philosophy for the Bank, which is supported by various Board /
Management level Committees who are primarily responsible for ensuring that the risk standards are
maintained as per the agreed parameters. The Bank’s Internal Audit functions independent of management
influence and reports to the Audit Committee. The head of Risk Management Unit has a role of overviewing
risk standards of the Bank and balancing the growing business of the Bank remaining fully compliant to the
legal and regulatory guidelines. As part of prudent banking practices, Laxmi Bank has other senior
executives in the role of risk managers who work independent of any business targets. The Credit Risk
Department, Credit Risk Control Unit, Compliance and Assurance Department, Operational Risk Unit,
Financial Control Unit and Treasury Mid Office are especially responsible in management of risk in their
respective areas.

Internal Control

The Board is responsible for ensuring the Bank has appropriate internal control framework in place that
supports the achievement of the strategies and objectives. The various functions of the Bank should be
looked upon with a view to establish a proper control mechanism is in place during expansion and growth
which enables it to maximize profitable business opportunities, avoid or reduce risks which can cause loss or
reputational damage, ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations and enhance resilience to
external events.

The Board has set policies and procedures of risk identification, risk evaluation, risk mitigation and
control/monitoring, in line with the NRB directives has effectively implemented the same at the Bank.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control system is reviewed regularly by the Board, its
Committees, Management and Internal Audit department.
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The Internal Audit monitors compliance with policies/standards and the effectiveness of internal control
structures across the Bank through regular audit, special audit, information system audit, Off Site review,
AML/CFT/KYC audit, ISO audit as well as Risk based Internal Audit (RBIA) approach. The audit
observations are reported to the Chief Executive Officer and Department/ Unit/ Branch Heads for initiating
immediate corrective measures. Internal Audit reports are periodically forwarded to the Audit Committee for
review and the committee issues appropriate corrective action in accordance with the issue involved to the
respective department, regional offices or branches.

5.1.1  Credit Risk

Laxmi Bank - Credit Policy Guide is the highest level policy document and it reflects long-term expectations
and represents a key element of uniform, constructive and risk-aware culture throughout the Bank. This
credit policy defines acceptable risk parameters and is periodically reviewed to account for changing
operating environment and industry behavior.

Laxmi Bank identifies, assesses and manages the probability of default by borrowing clients through a
number of proactive risk management techniques and tools under a broad risk framework.

Senior management, Risk Management Committee and the Board review credit portfolio and industry
concentration aspects regularly and make decisions / strategies based on the need of the hour.

Credit Approval Process

The Bank has standard procedures for Credit Approval for both retail and corporate credit proposals that
ensure that appropriate resources and tools are employed for the type of credit assessment required.

Post Disbursal Review and Monitoring

The Bank has standard procedures for credit review and monitoring systems, which is documented in Credit
Policy Guide and other Risk Management Guidelines. The policy stipulates the frequency and procedures
for credit review and monitoring

Distribution of Risk Assets by Industry sector / Concentration Risk

It is Laxmi Bank’s policy to ensure that the Bank’s exposure on any particular sector/industry does not
exceed a predefined cap of the total portfolio. The Bank has adopted the NAICS codes to analyze our
exposure on sectors. Industry analyses help us monitor industries at risk and make strategic decisions based
on such reviews.

i) Maximum exposure to credit risk

The bank has financial assets consisting mainly of loans & advances and investments at amortized cost. In
these cases, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the related financial assets.
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Market Risk

The Bank’s foreign exchange risk stems from foreign exchange position taking and commercial dealing.
All foreign exchange positions are managed by the Treasury. Fluctuation in foreign exchange rates can
have a significant impact on a Bank's financial position. Laxmi Bank has adopted measures to appropriately
hedge the risks that arise while carrying out international trade transactions. Code of ethics for treasury
dealers is in place to ensure that professionalism and confidentiality are maintained and ethical dealing
practices observed. Our treasury dealers have gained exposure to international markets as well in addition
to having undergone appropriate trainings. The Bank has followed the structure of a Treasury back and
Treasury Mid office independent of Treasury dealing room functions to instill better control over treasury
activities through appropriate segregation of duties and responsibilities.

Currency Risk:

Foreign exchange risk is the potential for the Bank to experience volatility in the value of its assets,
liabilities and solvency and to suffer actual financial losses as a result of changes in value between the
currencies of its assets and liabilities and its reporting currency.

The Bank has following foreign currency as receivables/payables as at the balance sheet date:

Amount in NPR ‘000

Foreign Currency Currency Code Assets Liabilities Net Position
Dhirams AED 120 - 120
Australian Dollar AUD 6,317 - 6,317
Canadian Dollar CAD 291 - 291
Swiss Francs CHF 37 - 37
Chinese Yuan CNY 586 - 586
Denmark Kroner DKK 2,036 - 2,035
Euro EUR 461,141 451,029 10,112
Great Britain Pound GBP 4,270 3,771 499
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 180 - 179
Indian Rupees INR 3,260,963 5,665 3,255,297
Japanese Yen JPY 1,495 13 1,481
Malaysian Ringgit MYR 325 - 325
Qatar Riyal QAR 219 - 219
Saudi Arabian Riyal SAR 608 - 608
Swedish Kroner SEK 6 - 6
Singapore Dollar SGD 861 - 861
Thailand Baht THB 252 - 251
US Dollar USD 7,192,338 7,181,214 11,124
Korean Won KRW 11 - 11
Kuwaiti Dinar KWD 11 - 11

Total 10,932,047 7,641,694 3,290,352
Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
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The interest rate risk monitoring table is provided below:

Amount in NPR Million
. 1-90 91 - 180 181 -270 271 - 365 Over 1
Particulars Total
days days days days year
Interest Sensitive Assets 28,592 11,755 5,423 4,784 32,266 82,821
Interest Sensitive Liabilities 16,039 8,049 8,940 8,226 26,697 67,951
Gap (1-2) 12,553 3,706 (3,517) (3,442) 5,569 14,870
Cumulative Gap 12,553 16,260 12,743 9,300 14,870 -
Adjusted Interest Rate Change 550, 0250, 025% 026%  1.00% -
(IRC)
Impact on Quarterly Earnings
(Cumulative Gap x IRC) 30.95 40.09 31.42 24.21 148.70 275.37
Accumulated Earnings Impact 30.95 71.05 102.47 12667 27537 -
to date
Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in equity prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk),
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or
by factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.

The Company’s equity price risk exposure relates to financial investment held at FVTOCI, whose values
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.

Liquidity Risk

The Bank has set internal risk appetite in terms of managing its liquidity risk. Adequate cushion is
maintained in terms of liquidity. Asset-liability management is also a part of the Treasury functions and it
guided by the Bank’s Asset Liability Management policy. This is further reviewed by the Bank’s ALCO
and Risk Management Committee.
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Operational risk

Operational risk is inherent in all business activities. Whilst risks can never be eliminated, at Laxmi Bank we
follow a number of procedures and practices like Business Continuity Plan, Whistle Blowing — A Culture of
Speaking Up to manage and mitigate preserve and create value of our business.

We manage our operational risks through standardization of internal processes and monitoring mechanisms.
Data security, dual control, periodic departmental reviews and quality assessment are some of the tools that are
used to manage risks.

Critical risk areas are discussed at the management level as well as Risk Management Committee which
updates issues with priority to the Bank’s Board to necessary actions and strategic directions.

Compliance and Assurance / Operations Risk Unit

Recognizing the importance of Operations Risk in terms of managing day-to-day business, we have a full
fledged Operational Risk under the Risk Management Unit.

Capital Management
Qualitative disclosures

The Bank has formulated and implemented the "Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP)
which has been approved by the Board of Directors. The ICAAP is a system of sound, effective, and complete
strategies and processes that allows the Bank to assess and maintain, ongoing basis, the amounts, types and
distribution of internal capital that the Bank considers adequate to cover the nature and level of risk to which
the Bank is or might be exposed to.

Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) shall also include requirement to have robust
governance arrangements, efficient process of managing all material risks and an effective regime for
assessing and maintaining adequate and economic capital at the Bank where economic capital (economically
needed capital) refers to the amount of capital required for the Bank’s business operations and for financing
the associated risks.

ICAAP provides policy and procedural guidelines for the calculation of internal capital adequacy by
prescribing appropriate methodologies, techniques and procedures to assess the capital adequacy requirements
in relation to the Bank’s risk profile and effectiveness of its risk management, control environment and
strategic planning.

The Board shall be primarily responsible for ensuring the current and future capital needs of the bank in
relation to strategic objectives. The management shall review and understand the nature and level of various
risks that the bank is confronting in the course of different business activities and how this risk relates to
capital levels and accordingly implement sound risk management framework specifying control measures to
tackle each risk factor.
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a) Capital Structure and Capital Adequacy
i. Tier 1 capital and a breakdown of its components
Amount in NPR Million
S.N Particulars Amount
a Paid up Capital 8,222
b Share Premium / Capital Reserve -
c Proposed Bonus Shares -
d Statutory General Reserve 1,171
e Retained Earnings 761
f Un-audited Current Year Cumulative Profit -
g Capital Redemption Reserve 240
h Other Free Reserves -
i Less: Deferred Tax Assets
i} Less: Intangible Assets 35)
k Less: Investment in equity of institutions with financial interests (437)
Core (Tier-1) Capital 9,922
ii. Tier 2 capital and a breakdown of its components
Amount in NPR Million
S.\. Particulars Amount
a Subordinated Term Debt 80
b General Loan Loss Provision 648
c Exchange Equalization Reserve 30
d Investment Adjustment Reserve 218
Supplementary (Tier-2) Capital 975
iii. Detailed information about the Subordinated Term Debts with information on the outstanding amount,

maturity, and amount rose during the year and amount eligible to be reckoned as capital funds.

Name

Amount

Interest Rate

Type

No. of Debentures

Laxmi Bank Debenture — 2076

NPR 400,000,000 (Four Hundred Million Only)

8% per annum (before tax) payable half yearly

Unsecured and Redeemable at Maturity. No call / convertible feature.

Face Value NPR 1,000.00

Maturity Period 7 Years

Priority to Debenture Holders

Listing

be after the depositors

Listed with Nepal Stock Exchange

400,000 (Four Hundred Thousand Only)

At the time of liquidation, priority of payment to the debenture holders will

iv. Deductions from capital

The intangible assets pertaining to software costs amounting to NPR 35.07 million have been deducted
from the core capital.
The Bank’s investment in Laxmi Capital Market Ltd., Everest Insurance Company Limited and Prime
Life Insurance Company limited, being institutions with financial interest, amounting NPR 436.77 million

has

been deducted from the core capital.

%
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Total qualifying capital

S.N. Particulars Amount (NPR Millions)
A Core Capital 9,922
B Supplementary Capital 975
Total Qualifying Capital (Total Capital Fund) 10,897
Capital Adequacy Ratio

Capital Adequacy Ratio of the bank as at 16 July 2018 stood at 12.43%.

Summary of Bank’s internal approach to assess the adequacy of capital to support current and future
activities, if applicable

The Bank formulates an annual business plan, with prescribed plan for every business functions including
deposits, lending, product developments and customer service. These plans are made in consideration of the
competitive environment and business sustainability as well as overall risk inherent in banking business.
Capital Plan is a part of the bank’s business plan. Capital Plan is formulated so as to fund the planned business
growth and to meet regulatory requirements on minimum capital and capital adequacy.

Result of the scenario-based approach is used as input to the capital contingency plan. The financial
consequences following various scenarios and potential events/actions are estimated and adequacy of capital in
those scenarios is tested. The results are discussed broadly at senior management level and in board meetings.

Summary of the terms, conditions and main features of all capital instruments, especially in case of
subordinated term debts including hybrid capital instruments

Ordinary share capital: The Bank has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 100 per share.
Each holder of equity shares is entitled to one vote per share. In the event of liquidation of the Bank, holder of
equity shares will be entitled to receive remaining assets of the Bank after distribution of preferential amount.
The distribution will be in proportion to the number of equity shares held by the shareholders.

Debentures: The bank has issued 8% Laxmi Bank Debentures 2076 amounting NPR 400 million. These
debentures do not carry any voting rights. These debentures are subordinate to the depositors of the bank.

Risk Exposures

Risk weighted exposures for Credit Risk, Market Risk and Operational Risk

Amount in NPR Million
S.N. Risk Weighted Exposure Amount

Risk Weighted Exposure for Credit Risk 81,716

Risk Weighted Exposure for Operational Risk 2,845

c Risk Weighted Exposure for Market Risk 109
Adjustments under Pillar II

d 3% of gross income to RWE 2,540

e 2% adjustment on Total RWE 471

Total Risk Weighted Exposure 87,681

&
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ii. Risk Weighted Exposures under each of 11 categories of Credit Risk
Amount in NPR Million
S.N. Risk Classification RWE

a Claims on Govt. and Central Bank -
b Claims on other Financial Entities 1,310
c Claims on Banks 1680
d Claims on Corporate and Securities Firm 36,759
e Claims on Regulatory Retail Portfolio 5,804
f Claims secured by Residential Properties 2,531
g Claims secured by Commercial Real Estate 1,197
h Past due Claims 1138

i High Risk Claims 12,674

j Other Assets 1,846
k Off balance sheet items 16,773
Total 81,716
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5.3.1.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
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Amt in NPR Million

Fair value
Hierarchy

(Level)

As at
16 July 2018

As at
15 July 2017

As at
16 July 2016

Fair Value through profit and loss
Financial Assets

Forward exchange Contract
Financial Liabilities

Forward exchange Contract

36

29

27

Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

Financial assets

Investment securities at OCI

- Quoted equity securities 1
- Unquoted equity securities 3

Investment in subsidiaries

1,916

287

2,267

248

1,686

170

Total

2,208

2,520

1,861

Financial Instruments held at amortized cost
Financial assets

Debt securities

Government bonds

Government treasury bills

Nepal Rastra Bank bonds

Nepal Rastra Bank deposit instruments

Loan and advances to B/FIs

W W W W W W w

Loans and advances to customers
Other
Accounts receivable

Accrued Income

3,336
1,891

3,766
590

Total

4,356

Financial liabilities

Due to Bank and Financial Institutions 3
Due to Nepal Rastra Bank 3
Deposits from customers

Borrowing

Provisions

Other liabilities

Debt securities issued

Subordinated Liabilities

2,472
678
65,562

688
401

1,348

58,585

741
401

2,466

45,815

670
401

Total

69,802

61,076

49,352
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54.1

54.2

54.3
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Operating Segment Information

General Information

The bank has identified its segments on the basis of its geographical business presence in seven provinces
of the country. Province 5, Province 6 and Province 7 have been combined into a single segment as the
total business/revenue of each taken separately is less than 10% and also considering their proximity to
each other.

Information about profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Amount in NPR ‘000

Particulars Province 1  Province2  Province3  Province 4 Others Total
Segment Assets 10,577,519 6,853,412 54,386,236 3,972,862 5,170,247 80,960,276
Segment Liabilities 4,451,570 2,000,592 56,614,151 2,622,491 4,113,458 69,802,262
Operating Income 749,085 440,438 1,276,402 231,990 287,640 2,985,555
Operating Expenses (149,705) (76,097) (872,670) (69,790)  (134,216) (1,302,478)
Net Operating Income 599,380 364,342 403,733 162,200 153,423 1,683,076
Non Operating Income (50) 8 (38,063) 0 14 (38,092)
Profit Before Tax 599,329 364,349 365,670 162,200 153,437 1,644,985
Income Taxes (179,799) (109,305) (80,100) (48,660) (46,031) (463,894)
Profit after Tax 419,530 255,044 285,571 113,540 107,406 1,181,091

Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

The bank has identified the key segments of business on the basis of nature of operations that assists the
Management Committee of the bank in decision making process and to allocate the resources. It will help
the management to assess the performance of the operating segments. The segment has been identified on
the basis of geographic location of the branches. Investment balances, NRB balance, income from
investment, forex income are reported in Head office under Province 3. Intra segment revenue and costs are
accounted as per the policy of the bank and eliminated in the Head Office.
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5.4.5

5.4.6

5.4.7
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Reconciliation of reportable, segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenue

Amt in Rs Million
Total revenue for reportable segments 2,986
Other revenues -
Elimination of intersegment revenues -
Entity's revenue 2,986
Profit or Loss

Amt in Rs Million
Total profit or loss for reportable segments 1,181
Other profit or loss -
Elimination of intersegment profits -
Profit before income tax 1,181
Assets

Amt in Rs Million
Total assets for reportable segments 80,960
Other assets -
Total assets 80,960
Liabilities

Amt in Rs Million
Total liabilities for reportable segments 69,802
Other assets -
Total liabilities 69,802

Information about product and services

The bank offers different ranges of banking products and services across all operating segments. All
branches in each segment are equipped to provide services of each type to customers through themselves or
through other branch/ central units under same or different segment. However, some branches may be
operated to provide specialized banking service based on management’s assessment of the market niche.

Information about geographical areas

The operating segments identified above are based on geographical presence of the branches in seven
provinces of the country. Province 5, Province 6 and Province 7 have been combined into a single segment
as the total business/revenue of each taken separately is less than 10% and also considering their proximity

to each other.

Information about major customers

Revenue from single customer doesn’t exceed 10% of total revenue.



5.5.

5.6.

5.6.1
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Share Options and Share based Payment

The Bank does not have a policy for share options to its employees. Similarly, during the year the Bank has
not made any payments or settlements by issuing new shares.

Contingent Liabilities and Commitment
Income Tax Liability

On the assessment of the Income Tax Returns of the Bank for the FY 2060/61, Large Taxpayers’ Office
(LTO) has raised an additional demand of NPR 5,153,916.55. The Bank has filed an appeal with the
Supreme Court against the order. The amount of demand has been disclosed as contingent liability on
income tax under schedule 4.28. The Bank has paid NPR 1,020,252 as deposits against above claim.

The Bank has received an additional demand of NPR 847,545, NPR 19,242,794, NPR 1,606,366, NPR
2,810,598 and NPR 36,273,807 from LTO relating to tax returns for the FY 2066/67, 2067/68, 2068/69,
2069/70 and 2070/71 respectively. The Bank disputed the demand as not tenable and has applied for appeal
to appropriate authorities. The assessment order for FY 2066/67 is currently under review at the Revenue
Tribunal whiles those for FY 2067/68, 2068/69, 2069/70 and 2070/71 are under administrative review by
the IRD. The amount of claim is shown as contingent liability on income tax under schedule 4.28. The
Bank has paid NPR 8,957,421 as deposit against above claims.

Pending decision, no provisions have been made against these additional demands. The Bank has filed tax
returns to the LTO up to the financial years 2073/74 under self-assessment procedures.

Tax returns filed under self assessment for the FY 2071/72, FY 2072/73 and 2073/74 are yet to be assessed
by LTO.
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5.6.2  Contingent Liability

Amount in NPR Million

As at As at As at
16-Jul-18  15-Jul-17  16-Jul-16

Particulars

Claims on Bank but not Accepted by the Bank
Letter of Credit (Full Amount)

a. Letter of Credit With Maturity Less than 6 Months 8,197 7,252 6,655
b. Letter of Credit With Maturity More than 6 Months 5,187 1,035 195
Rediscounted Bills

Unmatured Guarantees/Bonds

a. Bid Bonds 1,199 1,088 617
b. Performance Bonds 3,658 2914 1,964
c. Other Guarantee/Bonds

Unpaid Shares in Investment

Forward Exchange Contract Liabilities 3,876 3,043 2,034
Bills under Collection 417 519 414
Acceptances and Endorsements 2,512 1,569 1,228
Underwriting Commitments

Irrevocable Loan Commitments 16,975 13,058 7,218
Guarantees issued against Counter Guarantee of Internationally Rated Foreign

Banks 5,761 5,368 4,708
Advance Payment Guarantees 1,563 1,630 1,043
Financial Guarantees 8 9 10
Contingent Liabilities on Income Tax 66 30 27

Unpaid Guarantee Claims

Total 49,419 37,514 26,112
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5.71

5.7.2

5.7.3
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Related Party Disclosures
The Bank identifies its Board of Directors, Key Management Personnel comprising of the CEO and other

executive officials and its Subsidiary Companies as the related parties under the requirements of NAS 24.
The related parties of the Bank are listed below:

Particulars Relationship
Laxmi Capital Market Limited Subsidiary
Laxmi Laghubitta Bittiya Sanstha Limited Subsidiary
Shambhu Prasad Acharya Directors
Dinesh Poudel Directors
Sushil Kumar Aryal Directors
Swati Roongta Directors
Vishwa Karan Jain Directors
Sudesh Khaling, CEO Key Management Personnel
Executive Committee Members (ECM) Key Management Personnel

Board Member Allowances and Facilities

All members of the Board of Directors are non-executive directors and no executive compensation is paid
to the directors. The directors are paid Meeting Fees for their attendances in meeting of the Board of
Directors and other Board Level Committees. The Chairman of the Board of Directors is paid NPR 12,000
per meeting attended while other members of the board receive NPR 10,000 per meeting attended. In
addition, the directors are reimbursed with telephone expenses of NPR 2,000 per month. Travelling
expenses incurred for attending the meetings of the Board of Directors and other Board Level Committees
are also reimbursed to the directors other than those based in Kathmandu.

The details of the compensations paid to the directors are as under:

Particulars This Year (NPR) Previous Year (NPR)
Board Meeting Fee 502,000 448,000
Audit Committee Fee 136,000 78,000
Risk Management Committee fee 96,000 60,000
Money Laundering Prevention Committee 52,000 -
Human Resource Committee Fee 16,000 18,000
Special Committee Fee 32,000 -
Other meeting expenses 210,806 238,653

Loans and Advances extended to Promoters:
The Bank has not extended any loans to promoters during the year.
Compensation Details for Key Management Personnel

Compensations paid to Key Management Personnel (which includes CEO and other executive officials)
during the fiscal year is presented below. In addition, other non-monetary perquisites are provided to the

e



dasHl 8@ Tdaliacs
Laxmi BPank Limited

Key Management Personnel as per the bank’s Human Resource Policy and employment terms and
conditions.

Amount in NPR 000

Particulars This Year (NPR “000) Previous Year (NPR ‘000)

Salary and Allowances

CEO 12,116 10,534

Other Key Management Personnel 45,053 40,437

Total 57,169 50,971
Other Benefits*

CEO 3,599 3,204

Other Key Management Personnel 11,968 10,028

Total 15,567 13,232

Post Employment Benefits** - -

*Other Benefits include Staft Bonus paid out of profit for previous year.
**Post employment benelfits are actuarially determined on overall basis for all employees.

5.7.4 Transaction with Subsidiaries

Details of transactions between the company and its subsidiary companies during the year are presented

below.
Amount in NPR 000
Laxmi Laghubitta Bittiya Sanstha Laxmi Capital Market Ltd
Particulars Ltd

This Year Previous Year This Year Previous Year
Interest Expense - - 12,480 18,706
Interest Income 128,921 61,240 - -
Sale of Services - - 600 300
Purchase of Services - - 1,840 1,600
Dividend received 23,100 15,400 19,285 12,350

Details of outstanding balances between the company and its subsidiaries as on 15" July 2017 are presented

below
Amount in NPR’000
Laxmi Laghubitta Bittiya Sanstha Laxmi Capital Market Ltd
Particulars Ltd
This Year Previous Year This Year Previous Year
Equity Investment 147,000 147,000 140,000 101,500
Deposit Liabilities 4,043 8,957 93,261 781,753
Loans to Subsidiaries 1,247,673 1,232,856 - -

Subsidiaries include Laxmi Capital Market Limited and Laxmi Laghubitta Bittiya Sanstha Limited.

The bank has deputed its staff as Chief Executive Officer of its subsidiary Laxmi Capital Market Limited.

2
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Merger and Acquisition

There are no merger or acquisitions transaction during the year.

During the previous financial year 2073-74 (2016-17), the bank acquired Professional Diyalo Bikas Bank
Ltd (PDBBL), a “B” Class licensed financial institution operating in 10 districts during the FY 2016/17 and
started joint operations after transfer of all assets and liabilities of PDBBL on 14th January 2017. The
existing shareholders of erstwhile PDBBL were issued ordinary equity shares of the bank at the approved

share swap ratio of 50%.

The changes in equity of the bank due to the acquisition is summarized below:

Amount in NPR ‘000

. Share General Retained Deferred In\jestment
Particulars . . Tax Adjustment Total
Capital Reserve Earnings
Reserve Reserve

Equity before acquisition 240,350 34,781 45,298 1,474 100 322,003
Transferred to:

Share Capital 119,801 - - - - 119,801

General Reserve - 34,781 - - - 34,781

Retained Earning 120,175 - 45,298 1,474 - 166,947

Investment Adjustment ) ) ) ) 100 100

Reserve
Other Reserves 374 - - - - 374

The details of assets and liabilities acquired from Professional Diyalo Bikas Bank Ltd are as follows:

Particulars

Amount (Rs ‘000)

Assets Acquired

Cash and Bank Balances 536,776
Investment 200
Loans and Advances 1,663,938
Fixed Assets 15,138
Other Assets 11,027
Total 2,227,076
Liabilities Acquired
Deposit Liabilities 1,896,204
Other Liabilities 10,869
Total 1,905,073
Net Assets Acquired 322,003
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5.9. Disclosure of material non-controlling interest

Amount in Rs '000

Year ended Year ended

Particulars 32 Ashadh 2075 31 Ashadh 2074

Opening Balance 57,424 120,013
Profit for the year 32,121 26,250
Right Share issued 33,000 -
Premium on Share 4,416 -
Cash Dividend Paid (6,947) (10,768)
Closing NCI 120,013 135,496

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

Amount in NPR ‘000

Place of Proportion of ownership

. . interests and voting rights Accumulated non-controlling
incorporation . .
. L. held by non-controlling interests
Name of Subsidiary and principal .
lace of interests
ll))usiness 32 Ashadh 31 Ashadh 32 Ashadh 31 Ashadh
2075 2074 2075 2074

Laxmi Capital Market
Limited Nepal - - - -
Laxmi Laghubitta Bittiya o o
Sanstha Ltd Nepal 30% 30% 120,013 135,496

5.10. Additional Disclosures of non-consolidated entities

The Bank has two subsidiaries as at 16 July 2018, Laxmi Capital Market Limited and Laxmi Laghubitta
Bittiya Sanstha, which are consolidated for the year ended 16 July 2018. There are no such entities which
are required to be consolidated but not done during the year.

5.11. Events after reporting date

The Bank monitors and assesses events that may have potential impact to qualify as adjusting and/or non-
adjusting events after the end of the reporting period. All adjusting events are adjusted in the books with
additional disclosures and non-adjusting material events are disclosed in the notes with possible financial
impact, to the extent ascertainable.

There are no material events that have occurred subsequent to 16 July 2018 till the signing of this financial
statement.
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Disclosure effect of transition from previous GAAP to NFRSs

NFRS 1 (First-time Adoption of Nepal Financials Reporting Standards) provides a suitable starting point
for accounting in accordance with NFRS and is required to be mandatorily followed by first-time adopters.

The Bank has prepared the opening Statement of Financial Position as per NFRS as of 1Shrawan, 2073 (16

July 2016) (the transition date) by:

recognizing all assets and liabilities whose recognition is required by NFRS,

b. not recognizing items of assets or liabilities which are not permitted by NFRS,

c. reclassifying items from previous Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) to NFRS as

required under NFRS, and

d. applying NFRS in measurement of recognized assets and liabilities.

Significant changes from the policies adopted in the past

Significant changes from the accounting policies adopted under previous GAAP (erstwhile Nepal
Accounting Standards and directives issued by Nepal Rastra Bank) and the adoption of NFRS has been
disclosed in the respective segments, including the impact. The detailed impact disclosure is given below.

Reconciliation of equity

Amount in NPR ‘000

. As at As at 31 Ashadh

§ 1 Shrawan 2073 2074

s 3

Particulars —i Zc (Date of pelgilf)ltlldp(l)i;:;tted
3 Transition) under previous
GAAP)
Total Equity under previous GAAP 5,649,469 9,590,485
Adjustments under NFRS - -
Impairment on Loan and Advances - -
Fair Value and Employee Benefit accounting of Staff Loan - -
Lease Accounting - -
Measurement of Investment Securities at Fair Value c 754,440 772,252
Revaluation of Property and Equipment - -
Recognition of Investment Property d 49,084 -
Amortization of Debt Securities Issued - -
Deferred Tax - (393)
Defined Benefit Obligation of Employees e 10,016 8,351
Goodwill/ Bargain Purchase Gain - -
Interest Income b 97,558 108,115
Other - -
Proposed Cash Dividend - 39,328
Restatement of Retained Earning under previous GAAP (29,263) -

Total Adjustments to Equity 881,835 927,653
Total Equity as per NFRS 6,531,304 10,518,138
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5.12.3 Reconciliation of profit or loss
Amount in NPR ‘000

For the year ended 31 Ashadh

Explanatory
Note

Particulars
2074
(latest period presented under
previous GAAP)

Previous GAAP 1,006,624
Adjustments under NFRS
Interest Income b 10,557
Impairment of Loans and Advances -
Employees Benefit Amortization under Staff Loan -
Defined Benefit Obligation of Employee -
Operating lease expense -
Amortization expense of debt securities -
Other Operating Income -
Interest Expense -
Depreciation and Amortization -
Other : -

Deferred Tax Adjustment (393)

Provision for NBA written back during the year d (49,084)
Total Adjustments to Profit or Loss (38,920)
Profit or Loss under GAAP 967,704
Other Comprehensive Income 16,147
Total Comprehensive Income under NFRS 983,851
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5.12.5 Effect of NFRS adoption for statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Amount in NPR ‘000

Particulars Note For the period ended Ashadh 31, 2074
(latest period presented under previous GAAP)
Effect of Amount as
Previous GAAP transition to
NFRS per NFRS

Interest income b 4,692,402 65,575 4,757,977
Interest expense 3,028,184 - 3,028,184
Net interest income 1,664,217 65,575 1,729,792
Fee and commission income 488,781 - 488,781
Fee and commission expense 51,597 - 51,597
Net fee and commission income 437,183 - 437,183
Net interest, fee and commission income 2,101,401 65,575 2,166,976
Net trading income 192,776 - 192,776
Other operating income 168,670 - 168,670
Total operating income 2,462,846 65,575 2,528,421
f)lglizilf(r)l;esg; charge/(reversal) for loans and d 50,649 49,084 99,733
Net operating income 2,412,197 (16,491) 2,428,688
Operating expense
Personnel expenses b 554,872 55,018 609,890
Other operating expenses 349,918 - 349,918
Depreciation & Amortisation 84,401 - 84,401
Operating Profit 1,423,005 (38,527) 1,384,478
Non operating income 7,069 - 7,069
Non operating expense 6,890 - 6,890
Profit before income tax 1,423,184 (38,527) 1,384,657
Income tax expense 416,560 393 416,953

Current Tax 412,051 - 412,051

Deferred Tax 4,509 393 4,902
Profit for the period 1,006,624 (38,920) 967,704




5.12.6 Effect of NFRS adoption for statement of cash flows
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Amount in NPR ‘000

For the period ended Ashadh 31, 2074
(latest period presented under previous GAAP)

Particulars

Previous trfngftci:)zfto Amount as

GAAP NFRS per NFRS
Net cash flow from operating activities (963,211) 727,767 (235,444)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,296,785) (333,645) (1,630,429)
Net cash from financing activities 2,945,336 (392,611) 2,552,725
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 685,340 1,511 686,851
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 5,450,870 (1,390,135) 4,060,735
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6,136,210 (1,388,624) 4,747,586

There is no any cash inflow due to NFRS. However due to reclassification major adjustments are observed
mainly due to reclassification of Balance of BFIs from cash and cash equivalent to operating activities.
Further investment was bifurcated into long term investment and short-term investment which has now
been classified into investing activities.

Explanatory Notes to first time adoption

a)

b)

Under previous GAAP, cash dividends on equity shares recommended by the board of directors after the
end of the reporting period but before the financial statements were approved for issue were recognized in
the financial statements as a liability. Under NFRS, such cash dividends are recognized when declared by
the members in a general meeting. The effect of this change is an increase in total equity, but this does not
affect profit before tax and total profit for the respective years.

Under previous GAAP, Interest income on Loans and Advances was recognized on cash basis as per
Directive 4 of Nepal Rastra Bank (NRB). Under NFRS, Interest income is recognized on accrual basis
using Effective Interest Rate (EIR) Method and interest on staff loan has been amortized at fair value.

Amount in NPR ‘000
31 Ashadh 2073 31 Ashadh 2074
Interest Suspense required by NFRS - -

Particulars

Interest Suspense recognized by previous GAAP reversed 97,558 108,115
Net Increase in Equity 97,558 108,115

Net Movement in Profit & Loss during the year
Amortisation of Staff Loan Interest

10,557
55,018

Net Impact on Loans and Advances

65,575

)

Under previous GAAP, investments were measured at cost less diminution in value. Under NFRS, these
financial assets have been classified as financial assets carried at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive
Income (FVTOCI). On the date of transition to NFRS, these financial assets have been measured at their
fair value which is higher than the cost as per previous GAAP, resulting in an increase in the carrying
amount as explained in the table below. These changes do not affect profit before tax or total profit for the
year ended 15 July 2017 and 16 July 2016 because the changes in fair value have been recognized under
Other Comprehensive Income (OCI).



d)

f)
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Amount in NPR ‘000

Particulars 31 Ashadh 2073 31 Ashadh 2074
Increase/ (Decrease) in Carrying Amount due to fair value adjustment 1,077,771 1,103,217
Deferred Tax Impact (323,331) (330,965)
Writeback of loss provision created under GAAP - -
Net Increase in Equity 754,440 772,252
Net Movement in OCI 17,812

Under previous GAAP, Non Banking Assets (NBA) were recognized as per Directives of Nepal Rastra
Bank and 100% provision were made. Under NFRS, these NBA have been classified as Non Current
Assets held for sale and measured at lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. On the
date of transition to NFRS, provision as per the Directives of NRB had been reversed, resulting in an
increase in the carrying amount as explained in the table below.

Amount in NPR ‘000

Particulars 31 Ashadh 2073 31 Ashadh 2074

Increase in carrying amount due to reversal of provision for NBA - (49,084)
Net increase in Equity (49,084)
Net movement in Profit and Loss (49,084)

Under NFRS, the actuarial gains and losses form part of re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability
/asset which is recognized in Other Comprehensive income (OCI). Consequently, the tax effect of the same
has also been recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) under NFRS instead of profit or loss.

There is re-measurement of Gratuity and leave Liability as per the actuarial valuation report.

Amount in NPR ‘000

Particulars 31 Ashadh 2073 31 Ashadh 2074
(Increase)/Decrease in Gratuity Liability due to Actuarial Valuation (26,749) (44,550)
Liability as per Local GAAP 26,749 44,550

Actuarial Liability as per NFRS (A) - -

Actuarial Gain/ (loss) on Gratuity 14,308 (2,379)
Deferred Tax Impact on Actuarial Gain/(loss) (4,293) 714
Net Increment in total Equity 10,016 8,351
Net Movement in OCI during the year 10,016 8,351

Net Movement in PnL during the year - -

Under NFRS, acrrued interest on loans and advances to customer has been shown along with loans and
advances to customer which is carried at amortised cost. Similarly, the prepayment component on fair value
of staff loan has reduced the staff loan amount. Such prepayment has been shown under other assets.

Amount in NPR ‘000

Particulars 31 Ashadh 2073 31 Ashadh 2074
Total Loans and Advances as per Local GAAP 38,468,966 50,794,244
Adjustments:

Accrued Interest on Loans and Advances 97,558 108,115
Prepayment component on fair value of staff loan (213,284) (306,773)
Total Adjustments (115,726) (198,658)
Net Loans and Advances under NFRS 38,353,240 50,595,586
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5.13. Non-Banking Assets

Non-Banking Assets (NBA) has been shown under investment property. It has been recognized at lower of
fair value or amount due at the time of assumption of NBA.

Amount in NPR ‘000

Borrower Name Date of assuming 32 Ashadh 31 Ashadh 31 Ashadh
NBA 2075 2074 2073
Balchandra/ Biva Poudel 2074-04-29 2,920 - -
Kalpana Sitaula 2074-12-15 8,238 - -
Shanker Nath Upreti 2074-12-19 7,290 - -
Shyam Sundar Chyau Kheti Udhyog 2075-03-06 3,349 - -
Rewati Raman/ Dirgha Kumari 2075-03-12 3,034 - -
Pathivara Saw Mill 2075-03-19 6,618 - -
Jyoti Jewellery 2075-03-19 6,040 - -
Temple Art Exposition 2071-03-05 - - 49,084
Total 37,489 - 49,084

5.14. Interest Income

Entire interest receivable on loans and advances as of year-end has been transferred to regulatory reserve as
per NRB Directives. However, interest accrued as of 32 Ashad 2075 and collected after year end up to 15
Shrawan 2075 amounting to NPR 25,010,142 has been deducted from the amount transferred to regulatory
reserve during the FY 2017-18 as per NRB Directives.

5.15. Earnings per share
The Bank measures earning per share on the basis of the earning attributable to the equity shareholders for

the period. The number of shares is taken as the weighted average number of shares for the relevant period
as required by NAS 33 Earnings per Share.

Particulars Units Year ended Year ended
16-Jul-18 15-Jul-17
Profit attributable to equity shareholders (a) NPR'000 1,181,091 967,704
Weighted average of number of equity shares used in computing basic 82,216,670 44,447,576
earnings per share (b)
Basic and diluted earnings per equity share of Rs 100 each (a/b) Rs 14.37 21.77

As there is no potential ordinary shares that would dilute current earning of equity holders, basic EPS and
diluted EPS are equal for the period presented.

5.16. Proposed Distributions (Dividends and Bonus Shares)

The Board of directors in its meeting dated January 9, 2019 has passed a resolution recommending for
distribution of bonus shares (stock dividend) at 8.50% and cash dividend equivalent to tax on stock
dividend at 0.45% of paid up capital as at July 16, 2018. The Bank’s paid up equity capital shall increase by
NPR 698,841,691 upon approval of the resolution from Annual General Meeting.
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Unpaid Dividends

As at the reporting date, unpaid dividend over five years amounts to as follows.

Amount in NPR ‘000

Particulars As at As at As at
16 July 2018 15 July 2017 16 July 2016
Not collected for more than 5 years - 3,909 2,420
Not collected up to 5 years - 3,051 5,627
Total - 6,960 8,047

Non-performing assets

The Bank’s non-performing assets ratio stood at 1.29% as at balance sheet date. The total non-performing
assets as at balance sheet date is NPR 800,187,208 and loan loss provision related to non-performing assets
calculated as per NRB directives is NPR 440,421,761 which is 55.04% of NPA. Also, the total loan loss

provision to NPA is 136.06%.

Amount in NPR ‘000

Loan Category This year PY Change
Amount %
Performing Loan 61,196,753 52,248,554 8,948,199 17.13%
Pass Loans 60,243,781 51,623,123 8,620,658 16.70%
Watchlist Loans 952,973 625,431 327,541 52.37%
Non-performing Loans 800,187 489,023 311,164 63.63%
Restructured/ Rescheduled Loans 71,180 102,394 (31,214) -30.48%
Substandard Loans 293,160 71,927 221,233 307.58%
Doubtful Loans 161,787 108,050 53,737 49.73%
Loss Loans 274,060 206,652 67,408 32.62%
Gross Loans and Advances 61,996,941 52,737,578 9,259,363 17.56%

Loans Written Off

The Bank has written off loans amounting total NPR 43,807,383 during the year FY 2074-75. The amount
has been presented as non-operating expense under schedule 4.40 in Statement of Profit of Loss. The
details of loans written off during the year are as follows:

Borrower Amount (Rs)

Temple Art Exposition 12,711,456
Utsav /Prakriti Karmacharya 60,823
MSK Automobiles 31,035,104
Total 43,807,383
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Concentration of Deposits, Loans & Advances and Contingents

Amount in NPR Million
Loan:118:i gg}’:“ces Deposit.s & Non-Funded
Particulars Purchased Borrowings
CYy PY CYy PY CY PY
Total Amount Outstanding 60,983 51,429 67,735 59,320 44,349 37,514
Highest Exposure of a Single Unit 1,740 1,692 2,079 1,666 2,699 2,399
2.85% 3.29% 3.06% 2.81% 6.08% 6.39

Concentration of exposure

* CY= Current Year, PY = Previous Year

For the calculation of concentration, loans and advances is total loans extended to the customers except
staff loans and interest accruals on loans and the deposits is total deposits from the customers excluding

interest payables.

Single Obligor Limit and Sector-wise Limit (Directive No. 3) for both funded and non-funded are within

the limit as prescribed by NRB directives.
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Shareholders holding more than 0.5% Shares

SN Name of Shareholder No of Shares %

1 Laxmi Corp Nepal Pvt. Ltd. 11,725,003.90 14.26%
2 Sarika Khetan 8,128,763.20 9.89%
3 Citizen Investment Trust 7,134,029.95 8.68%
4 Sneha Khetan 4,606,193.60 5.60%
5 Rajendra Kumar Khetan 4,203,381.33 5.11%
6 Ratan Lal Sanghai 4,196,660.11 5.10%
7 Himalayan Exim Private Ltd 3,757,073.15 4.57%
8 Gopi Krishna Sikaria 3,712,572.96 4.52%
9 MTC Investment Pvt. Ltd. 2,444,527.42 2.97%
10 Puja Agrawal Khetan 1,641,962.76 2.00%
11 Om Prakash Sikaria 1,171,721.55 1.43%
12 Rastriya Beema Sansathan(Jiwan Beema) 1,120,132.93 1.36%
13 Anjali Sarawogi 1,119,679.18 1.36%
14 Prime Holding Pvt.Ltd. 762,568.43 0.93%
15 Sunil Kumar Bansal 554,911.41 0.67%
16 Deepak Kumar Malhotra 543,200.57 0.66%
17 Ravi kumar Gupta 456,297.70 0.55%

Reserves

General Reserve

The movement in general reserve during the year is as follows;

Amount in NPR ‘000

Opening Balance 935,013
Transfer as per BAFIA 236,218
Closing balance 1,171,231

As required by Section 44 of Banks and Financial Institutions Act, 2073 (BAFIA), 20% of the current
year's net profit amounting to NPR 236,218,185 (Previous Year NPR 201,324,834) has been transferred to
General Reserve.

Exchange Fluctuation Reserve

As per Section 45 of the Banks and Financial Institutions Act 2006, Bank is required to transfer 25% of
revaluation gain to Exchange Fluctuation Reserve through Profit and Loss Appropriation Account. Since
the bank incurred net revaluation loss during the year, no further appropriation has been done to the
Reserve.
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Debenture Redemption Reserve
As per the Clause 5 of NRB directive 6, licensed institutions are required to maintain a capital redemption

reserve in respect of debenture liability.

As the Bank has debenture outstanding of NPR 400 million namely “8% Laxmi Bank Debentures, 2076”
having maturity period of seven years.

Amount in NPR ‘000.

Opening Balance 160,000
Add: Transfer during the period 80,000
Closing Balance 240,000

Investment Adjustment Reserve

Investment Adjustment Reserve as at 32 Ashadh 2075 (16 July 2018) stands at NPR 217,640,384
containing NPR 100,000 towards investment in unlisted shares of Prabhu Capital Limited and NPR
217,540,384 against difference between cost and market price of investment available for sale in case of the
investment whose market value is less than cost. AFS investments are marked to market on a regular basis
and the difference is adjusted through reserves. During the year, NPR 112,301,590 is transferred from
Retained Earning to Investment Adjustment Reserve.

Corporate Social Responsibility

As per the NRB directive no. 6.16 on the Corporate Social Responsibility, the Bank has allocated 1% of the
net profit of current fiscal year for CSR activities.

Amount in NPR ‘000

Opening Balance 10,066
Transfer to Reserve 11,810
Expense during the year 9,447
Closing balance 12,429

Employees Training Fund

As per NRB Directive No. 6, the bank is required to spend at least 3% of total personnel expenses in
training and skills development of its employees. Any deficit expenses on the minimum amount as above
should be transferred to Employees Training Fund. During the year ended 32 Ashadh 2075, the bank has
incurred NPR 14,754,364 towards training and development of its employees which is more than 3% of
total personnel expenses for FY 2073-74. Hence, no transfer is required to Employees Training Fund for
the year.
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